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Introduction 

1. The Applicant has challenged “the decision by United Nations Office at 

Nairobi (UNON) management to use the Kenyan police in resolving prohibited 

conduct (ST/SGB/2008/5) hence attempting to circumvent the wheels of justice after 

an inordinate delay in handling a conflict and eventually breaching the Vienna 

Convention on Diplomatic Relations”. 

2. The Applicant has also alleged that: 

a. the seven-month delay in constituting the fact finding panel by the Director-

General (DG), UNON, into his complaint of prohibited conduct did not meet 

the threshold of promptness stipulated in section 5.14 of ST/SGB/2008/5 

(Prohibition of discrimination, harassment, and abuse of authority); 

b. the DG breached the duty to take prompt and concrete action into his 

complaint; 

c. the DG was neither fair nor impartial in handling his complaint; and 

d. the DG was misinformed about a falsified police bond dated 30 August 2013. 

The issues 

3. The two principle issues arising from the Application are:  

a. Whether the UNON Administration unlawfully delayed an investigation into 

his complaint of prohibited conduct and; 

b. Whether the UNON Administration acted lawfully in relation to the detention 

and charging of the Applicant by the Kenyan police in August 2013. 

4. The scope of the Tribunal’s considerations are limited to these two issues, 

however, in order to understand the sequence of events during the period of alleged 

delay and the circumstances surrounding the contact by the UNON officials with the 
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Kenya Police about the Applicant it was necessary for the Tribunal to canvass 

numerous facts. Many of these facts are the subject of ongoing investigations by the 

investigation panel set up under ST/SGB/2008/5 to investigate the Applicant’s 

complaint of prohibited conduct and by the Ethics Office to whom he also 

complained. There may be future misconduct investigations against the Applicant by 

the United Nations. There are outstanding criminal charges against the Applicant in 

the Kenyan Magistrate’s Court and he has complained to the Kenya Police Oversight 

Authority and others. The Tribunal makes no findings on matters that are entirely 

within the province of the bodies authorized to undertake those investigations. 

5. For example, there was disputed evidence given at the hearing about the dates 

of the incidents reported by the Applicant in his complaint of prohibited conduct and 

the identity of those who attended each meeting. These are matters for the 

investigation panel to decide. As they do not affect the ultimate decisions to be made 

by the Tribunal on the two main issues in this case, the Tribunal makes no attempt to 

resolve the conflicts of evidence.  

6. The Tribunal conducted an oral hearing. Before the Applicant gave his 

evidence the Tribunal cautioned him about his right not to give any evidence that may 

incriminate him in criminal proceedings. 

7. Apart from one witness who is not a staff member and asked for anonymity, 

witnesses who gave evidence to the Tribunal are named in this judgment. Any 

individuals referred to but who did not give oral evidence are referred to by their 

titles.  

The Facts 

8. The Applicant, George Birya, is a Security Officer in the Department of 

Safety and Security (DSS) at UNON. He has been employed at UNON since August 

2010. Before that he worked for 12 years as a police officer at the Kenya Diplomatic 

Police Unit (DPU). 
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9. Between October 2012 and the end of January 2013, disputes arose between 

the Applicant and some individuals unrelated to the United Nations (the 

complainants) about some financial transactions concerning vehicles. The Applicant 

told the Tribunal that in one case he had hired a car from a complainant and following 

a breakdown of the vehicle they were in dispute about what the Applicant owed the 

complainant. The complainants had difficulties making contact with the Applicant 

and some complained to the Kenya Police that he had stolen some car parts and 

issued fraudulent cheques. They and the Police attempted to reach him at his work at 

UNON.  

10. Janet Okal is a DSS Inspector in charge of Security Operations at UNON. She 

has authority over DSS officers with the rank of Lieutenant, Sergeant and Security 

Officers and is the Applicant’s Second Reporting Officer. One of her core functions 

is to deal with any issues that arise at the UNON gate. She told the Tribunal that her 

office is located near the entrance gate to the UNON compound so that she can deal 

with queries from the public without them entering the secure compound where a 

ground pass is needed. The Inspector said she has close and cordial relations with the 

Kenya Police. 

11. On 29 January 2013, while at the UNON gate dealing with an unrelated 

incident, the Inspector came across one of the complainants, his companion and a 

uniformed Kenyan police officer, Constable Githendu. They were trying to get access 

to the Applicant. She invited them all to her office to talk about the matter. 

12. The Constable explained to the Inspector that he had received some 

complaints from people who had disputes with the Applicant over cars they had hired 

to the Applicant to run as taxis. He told her that if the Applicant settled his debts then 

he would withdraw the complaints. 

13. The Inspector supported the idea of an agreement being reached, as she did 

not want any damage to be done to the image of the United Nations or DSS. She 
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invited them to return at a later date so that she could bring the matter to the 

Applicant’s attention. 

14. On 30 or 31 January 2013, after the Applicant had signed out from his night 

shift, he was summoned to the Inspector’s office. Present were Inspector Okal, 

Lieutenant Kimathi and another DSS officer, the Constable and two complainants. 

When Inspector Okal asked the Applicant if he knew the complainants he agreed and 

said he had private matters to settle with them. There is a dispute between the parties 

about what occurred at that meeting including whether the Applicant wrote and 

signed agreements to pay the debts owed to the complainants and what Inspector 

Okal and Lieutenant Kimathi said and did in relation to the Applicant. The meeting 

ended with an agreement that there would be another meeting on 4 February 2013.  

15. This plan changed so that instead of meeting at the UNON compound, the 

complainants and the Applicant would meet at the Constable’s office at the Gigiri 

police station. The Constable told the Applicant of this change. The complainants met 

there but the Applicant did not turn up. When the Constable contacted him about the 

money he asked for more time and said he would pay by 6 February 2013.  

16. On 4 February 2013, while the Applicant was on duty, Inspector Okal spoke 

to him about the money he owed. He alleges that she gave him a final warning to pay 

the money or she would remove him from the list of Security Officers who were to go 

on mission to Dadaab. He told her it was none of her business. She told him to return 

his firearm, he asked why. She said it was her instruction. 

17. After consulting with his team leader about the firearm the Applicant says that 

he went to the Crisis Center to find the Armorer to return it. The acting Armorer 

asked him to wait until the Armorer arrived. As he was waiting he was instructed to 

go to the lobby. Inspector Okal was there. He described her as furious and said that 

there was a scene. Inspector Okal said she was angry because she had gone to the 

lobby to find that the Applicant who was rostered for duty there was neither there nor 

at the Crisis Center handing in his firearm as ordered. She asked for his firearm. He 
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refused and said he had a duty to return it to the armory. The facts about this incident 

are yet to be determined by the Investigation Panel but for the purposes of this case 

there is no doubt that there was an acrimonious encounter between the Inspector and 

the Applicant in the UNON lobby.   

18. On 6 February, the Constable informed the Inspector that the Applicant had 

not paid the money to the complainants.  

19. On 7 February 2013, Inspector Okal told the Applicant that she was instructed 

to take him to the office of the Assistant Chief of Security. There was another scene 

between the two. The Applicant alleges she tried to grab his belt. She denies that. 

That is a matter for the fact-finding panel. 

20. Inspector Okal told the Tribunal that the meeting with the Assistant Chief of 

Security was to explain to the Applicant the United Nations’ obligations under the 

Host Country Agreement with Kenya which included that criminals are not allowed 

to hide in the United Nations complex. They wanted to give him a chance to deal 

with the complainants. The Applicant said that at the meeting he was insulted by a 

Security Officer and that profanities were used. At the end of the meeting he was 

instructed to change out of his uniform into civilian clothes and was escorted out of 

the compound. There he found the Constable waiting for him. Inspector Okal denies 

she had set up this meeting. After speaking outside the nearby United States Embassy 

for 15 minutes the Applicant and the Constable agreed they would meet with all of 

the complainants that day. 

21. The Applicant then phoned Inspector Okal and asked if he should report back 

to work. When she asked where he was he said he was outside the United States 

Embassy. He believes she was surprised that he was not at the police station. He 

returned to the UNON compound, changed back into his uniform and returned to 

work. 

22. On the Constable’s evidence, the planned meeting with the Applicant went 

ahead later on 7 February 2013 at Maggie’s Hotel. They all took tea and some money 
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changed hands although it seems not all the complainants were completely satisfied. 

The Constable told the Tribunal that by then he had sufficient evidence to lay 

criminal charges against the Applicant relating to the cheques and car parts but he did 

not and instead continued with his efforts to get the Applicant to settle all his debts 

completely. 

23. After the meeting with the Assistant Chief of Security and Inspector Okal on 

7 February 2013, the Applicant had had enough of the interference of the United 

Nations’ officials in his private affairs and decided to lay a complaint. He went to see 

Inspector Mkunde of DSS UNON who is in charge of the Special Investigation Unit 

(SIU) at UNON to explain what had happened. As Inspector Mkunde was of the same 

rank as Inspector Okal he could not take any action against her but told the Applicant 

that he would raise it with the Chief of Security. The Chief of Security called a 

meeting. Inspector Mkunde tried to persuade the Applicant to attend as he wanted the 

matter to be settled by the Chief of Security but the Applicant refused to attend in the 

company of Inspector Okal. 

24. On 18 February 2013, the Applicant filed a complaint of prohibited conduct 

pursuant to ST/SGB/2008/5 with the DG against the Assistant Chief of Security, 

Inspector Okal and another Security Officer. The complaint was copied to the 

President of the Staff Union and the Chief of Security, DSS UNON. It specified the 

date and places of the alleged incidents and named witnesses to the incidents. It 

concerned the alleged treatment he had received from his superiors over the disputes 

with the complainants. He stated that:  

…these prevailing circumstances make me feel unsafe although I am 
supposed to be the one guarding the staff members and the property of 
the United Nations... I request that I be given a fair hearing and be 
treated fairly devoid of the harassment and bullying I have received in 
the recent days…..I also request that this matter be resolved so as to 
avoid a recurrence…… 

25. The DG gave evidence to the Tribunal. She described her function as the 

designated official for Kenya and her role in relation to the host country as per the 
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Host Country Agreement. She also explained that DSS UNON has a dual reporting 

line. As DG, she is in charge of DSS Kenya but DSS also reports to DSS New York.  

26. The DG received the Applicant’s complaint on 20 February 2013. She 

reviewed it and sought advice on how to proceed. During the next few months she 

was away two or three times on mission and her legal advisor was on leave for a 

month. She said that it was apparent from the body of the complaint that there was a 

personal dispute between the Applicant and his creditors and she was concerned 

whether the complaint necessarily merited the establishment of a fact-finding panel.  

27. The DG said she also faced the practical problem that there are very few staff 

members who have been trained by the Office of Internal Oversight Services (OIOS) 

to sit on panels under ST/SGB/2008/5, and it is difficult to find willing and able staff 

with this training who are not unduly burdened by their official duties. Therefore, 

such panels should not be embarked on without very good cause. She also had 

concerns about the suitability of a “civilian panel” investigating Security Officers 

(SO) which she thought might be intimidating as the SOs are in charge of the staff 

members’ security both in and out of work. 

28. At the same time, without advising the DG, the Chief of Security UNON told 

Inspector Mkunde that the Applicant’s complaint should be investigated by SIU to 

establish the facts before the DG came to him to find out what had happened.  

29.  Inspector Mkunde gave the complaint letter to Sergeant Ndunda of SIU and 

instructed him to carry out an internal investigation into the alleged harassment of the 

Applicant by Inspector Okal. 

30.  On 13 March 2013, the Applicant notified the DG by email that he was still 

awaiting a response or acknowledgment of his complaint. He advised her that he had 

been informed that the matter was unofficially being investigated by Sergeant 

Ndunda of SIU and pointed out that Sergeant Ndunda had a conflict of interest as he 

was deputy to one of the persons who was adversely mentioned in the complaint.  
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31. On 14 March 2013, the DG replied to the Applicant that she had received his 

complaint and it was receiving attention. She told the Tribunal that she thought at that 

time that the SIU investigation was an internal investigation to sort out what was 

going on in DSS UNON and had nothing to do with the harassment complaint 

addressed to her. She continued to review the Applicant’s complaint to decide what 

action to take on it. 

32. On 15 March 2013, Sergeant Ndunda emailed the witnesses named by the 

Applicant in his complaint to remind them to avail themselves at the SIU office for 

statement recording. In that email, he advised the Applicant to consult with his 

witnesses for their statements as none of them had turned up.  

33. On the same day in an email to Sergeant Ndunda copied to a number of 

persons including the DG, the Assistant Secretary-General, Office of Human 

Resources Management (ASG/OHRM) and the Chief of the Investigations Division, 

OIOS (ID/OIOS), the Applicant said: 

In reply to your email, kindly note that the complaint was never 
addressed to UNON-DSS/SIU and wish (sic) to know who authorised 
the said investigations be done in your office as the in charge SIU (sic) 
is one of the accused persons. 

34. The Applicant did not receive a reply from anyone to this email and neither he 

nor his witnesses participated in the SIU investigation.  

35. Sergeant Ndunda was copied into a further complaint dated 26 March 2013 

alleging that the Applicant owed civilian complainants money and asking for 

assistance from UNON to resolve the dispute. He told the Tribunal that as he had 

already launched an investigation and had consulted with the police who had given 

him copies of documents and names of complainants who had come to the gate, he 

went back to the Diplomatic Police to make enquires about the case. He was told all 

complaints against the Applicant which had been received variously at the 

Diplomatic Police Unit, the Criminal Investigations Department (CID) and the local 
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police station at Gigiri, Nairobi, had been transferred to the Gigiri Station to be 

investigated. 

36. Constable Githendu who was in charge of these complaints, told the Tribunal 

that in April or May 2013, Sergeant Ndunda came to see him several times at the 

Gigiri Police station about the Applicant. He told him that he was investigating 

allegations made by the Applicant against Inspector Okal. The Constable was initially 

reluctant to help him but after the intervention of the Officer Commanding Station 

(OCS), the Constable gave him some of the relevant documents. He wanted to “throw 

the ball back into the court” of the United Nations. The Constable said nothing to 

Sergeant Ndunda about charging the Applicant with criminal offences arising from 

the civil complaints as the case was still on going and the Applicant was willing to 

settle the debts. 

37. Sergeant Ndunda continued his investigation and interviewed Inspector Okal, 

the Assistant Chief of Security and another Lieutenant named in the Applicant’s 

complaint of harassment. They all denied insulting the Applicant. He did not 

interview the Applicant. 

38. Sergeant Ndunda reported to Inspector Mkunde sometime in March. He said 

he combined his findings on the two complaints (harassment against and misconduct 

by the Applicant) because they were linked. The report of his investigation was sent 

to the DG and to DSS New York.   

39. On the basis of the Constable’s evidence it is likely that the Sergeant 

continued his contact with the Kenya Police about this matter after his report was 

completed. 

40. On 3 May 2013, the DG referred the Applicant’s 18 February 2013 complaint 

and the complaint received by UNON from the Applicant’s alleged creditors to the 

Chief of ID/OIOS. In her letter she stated she was aware that such a matter would 

normally invite an enquiry by a fact-finding panel in accordance with 

ST/SGB/2008/5 but as the matter related to security personnel OIOS would be in a 
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better position to establish the facts. She also said there was a possibility that the 

Applicant may have been involved in misconduct due to his engaging in outside 

activities. She told the Tribunal that she considered it both efficient and pragmatic to 

refer both complaints to OIOS.  

41. The DG advised the Applicant of the referral of his 18 February complaint to 

OIOS for possible investigation. She told him that if he felt he was the subject of 

retaliation, he should make a report to the Ethics Office. She did not tell him that 

there were allegations of misconduct made against him. 

42. The DG told the Tribunal that she learned of the SIU enquiry into the 

protected activity complaint after she submitted the Applicant’s complaint to OIOS. 

She saw the report when the Chief of Security brought it to her. She did not know that 

the Applicant had not been interviewed during that investigation. 

43. On 6 May 2013, the Chief of ID/OIOS advised the DG that the case would be 

presented to the OIOS Investigators’ intake committee for consideration and that the 

related matter of the cab service would be referred to the USG/DSS for action. This 

was done the same day. 

44. On 17 June 2013, without reference to the DG, the Director ID/OIOS referred 

the Applicant’s 18 February complaint of harassment to the USG/DSS.  

45. On 8 July 2013, the Acting Head of DSS in New York reported to the 

Director ID/OIOS on the investigation into the Applicant’s complaint and on the 

allegations of misconduct. He said there was a prima facie case that the Applicant 

had issued bad cheques, a criminal offence. It was yet to be confirmed if the Kenya 

Police were actively seeking the Applicant. The letter said: “DSS/DHSS/SSS Nairobi 

has to confirm with Kenya Police that DPU are actively seeking SO Birya on 

suspicion of having committed a criminal offence, namely issuing bad cheques”. If 

that was the case DSS New York recommended placing the Applicant on leave until 

the police investigation was completed and formally referring the matter to the 

appropriate Kenyan authorities for investigation. 
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46. On 6 August 2013, the DG wrote to the Acting Head of DSS New York to 

enquire if he had or was intending to take any action in respect of the allegation of 

misconduct and the complaint of prohibited conduct presented by the Applicant.  

47. The accounts to the Tribunal of what happened next differed markedly from 

witness to witness but the following facts can reliably be found from the oral and 

documentary evidence. 

48. On 19 August 2013, the Acting Head of DSS New York replied to the DG’s 6 

August letter. He said the SIU investigator had concluded that the Applicant’s 

complaint of prohibited conduct was unfounded. However, it and the misconduct case 

had been referred back to DSS UNON for further investigation. DSS UNON had 

been asked to take statements from officers who were present at the meeting where 

the alleged harassment took place. The Acting Head said he had been advised that 

day that DSS UNON had not concluded the investigations. He was waiting for the 

DSS UNON reports to be resubmitted. 

49. On 20 August 2013, the Chief of Security at UNON gave Inspector Mkunde 

the 8 July letter from the Acting Head of DSS New York. Inspector Mkunde told the 

Tribuanl that he was asked to get more information for New York and to find out 

from the Gigiri Police station what they intended to do about the Applicant. Sergeant 

Ndunda was instructed by Inspector Mkunde to go to the Gigiri police station. 

50. Sergeant Ngunda went to the police station on 21 August. He said he asked 

Constable Githendu to confirm how far the Police had gone into their enquiries about 

the Applicant and what they were going to do. The Constable told the Tribunal that 

he told Sergeant Ndunda that the complainants had spoken to him several times about 

the Applicant who kept promising to pay the money. He said he did not give the 

Sergeant any further information as a police constable is not supposed to release any 

information to an outsider.  
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51. Sergeant Ndunda reported to Inspector Mkunde that apart from opening the 

file, calling the United Nations, and waiting for the Applicant to appear, the Police 

had done nothing on the case.  

52. Inspector Mkunde and Sergeant Ndunda returned to the Gigiri Police Station 

the same day. Inspector Mkunde went to the Officer Commanding Police Division’s 

(OCPD) office while Sergeant Ndunda waited outside and dealt with other issues. 

Inspector Mkunde told the Tribunal that he asked the OCPD what they were 

intending to do since New York had requested more information. He said the OCPD 

told him they were intending to take the Applicant to court. Inspector Mkunde asked 

the OCPD to write a letter for the Chief of Security to tell him what he was going to 

do. Inspector Mkunde left the Police Station and told Sergeant Ndunda to wait for a 

document from the OCPD’s office.  

53. Constable Githendu was summoned to the OCPD’s office by an 

Administration Staffing Officer (OAS) to take the Applicant’s file to the OCPD’s 

office. He and the Officer sat and had a conversation with the OCPD who was new to 

the office. He was told to explain the circumstances around this case. The OCPD 

instructed the OAS to prepare a letter to the United Nations asking them if they could 

get the Applicant to go to the police station for further action. 

54. The letter was on the letterhead of the Office of the President. It was 

addressed to the Chief Security Officer, United Nations Complex Nairobi and was 

signed by a Police Officer.  It named the Applicant as a suspect in two offences. It 

went on:  

This office is investigating several cases regarding issuance of bad 
cheques Contrary to Section 316 (1) (C) (4) of the Penal code and 
Theft of Motor Vehicle parts contrary to Sec. 268 (1) (2) (a) as read 
with Section 275 of the Penal Code. 
Complain (sic) was made to Gigiri police station on diverse dates in 
the months of February 2013. 
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Effort to summon the subject who is a suspect and work[s] in your 
organization bear no fruits in the past. Kindly instruct him to appear 
before the OCS Gigiri for further action. 

55. Sergeant Ndunda brought the police letter to Inspector Mkunde. The Chief of 

Security showed the letter to the DG. 

56. The Applicant told the Tribunal that on 21 August the Constable phoned him 

and told him that some United Nations “bosses” went to the Gigiri police station in 

relation to a report from New York about the Applicant and that to “save the 

situation” some charges should be preferred against the Applicant by the Kenya 

Police. The charges would relate to stealing motor vehicles spare parts and issuing 

bad cheques. In his evidence the Constable denied that he phoned the Applicant and 

said he had stopped communicating with him since June.  

57. However he found out about the matter, the Applicant arrived at the Gigiri 

police station an hour or so after Sergeant Ndunda took the letter to UNON. He went 

to the OCS’ office. The OCS called the Constable and said “take your man”.  He was 

charged and finger printed. The Constable told the Tribunal that the Applicant “was a 

prisoner”. When the Applicant pleaded to be released the OCS set a KES20,000 

bond. The Applicant had no money to meet the bond and unsuccessfully tried to get 

someone to assist him. 

58. Eventually the OCPD instructed the Constable to release him on a free bond 

to appear in the Magistrate’s court in one week. The bond gave his appearance date as 

27 August 2013. 

59. Sergeant Ndunda was informed that the Applicant was at the police station. 

He was told that the police had wanted to detain the Applicant to take him to court 

but he was released on a free bond for a week. Sergeant Ndunda told the Tribunal that 

on 21 August he saw a bond requiring the appearance of the Applicant in the 

Magistrate’s Court on 30 August. He told Inspector Mkunde that the Applicant had 

been summoned to the police station and given a bond to go to court. 
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60. On 22 August 2013, the Applicant emailed the DG enclosing a letter 

(misdated 22 September) for her urgent attention. He told her the police had been 

asked to address a letter to the Chief Security Officer at UNON to demand that he be 

handed over for questioning and subsequent arrest and he had been told that to be 

safe he should make a statement dropping all allegations about the two staff members 

he originally named in February. He said he was also told that the United Nations 

headquarters had ordered the Kenya Police to conduct an investigation into his 

conduct. He asked for protection. 

61. A week after visiting the Police Station, Inspector Mkunde called the OCPD 

to find out what had happened. He was told that the Applicant had failed to appear in 

court and a warrant of arrest had been issued. Inspector Mkunde told the Tribunal that 

he had nothing further to do with the matter. 

62. The evidence about the date on which the Applicant was to appear in court 

was confused to say the least.  The Applicant produced a top copy of a stamped bail 

bond dated 21 August 2013 with the original date of appearance of 27 August 2013 

over-written to read 6 September 2013. The Respondent produced two other bonds 

both dated 21 August. One had an appearance date of 27 August, the other of 30 

August.  

63. As best as can be adduced from the evidence, on 21 August the Applicant was 

bailed to appear in the Magistrate’s court on 27 August 2013. On 26 August he went 

to the Gigiri police station to speak to the OCPD to protest the charges and to request 

an extension of that date. The OCPD called in the Constable and instructed him to 

change the appearance date on the bail bond from 27 August to 6 Sept to give the 

OCPD more time to go through his file. The OCPD’s secretary confirmed this in 

evidence. 

64. In contrast, the Constable said that on 26 August the OCPD agreed to extend 

the appearance date to 30 August 2013 and he issued a new bail bond with that date. 

He could not explain why this new bail bond was dated 21 August (the date of arrest) 
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rather than the date on which it was issued. He could not remember if he had given 

that bond to the Applicant.  

65. On 26 August 2013, the DG received an addendum to the SIU report from the 

Chief of Security. In addition to its conclusions on the misconduct allegations and the 

behaviour of the Security Officers named in the Prohibited Conduct complaint, it 

noted that the Applicant had been charged by the Kenya Police and had been 

summoned to appear at the Magistrates Court on 27 August 2013. 

66. On 27 August 2013, the DG who had just returned from mission 

acknowledged the Applicant’s email of 22 August and said it was receiving attention. 

There was no evidence given to the Tribunal of what attention it was in fact given.  

67. On the same day the Applicant wrote to the ASG/OHRM in New York 

repeating his allegations. He said that he was sending this to her as his mail to the DG 

was being intercepted and delivered to the OCPD Gigiri police station hours after he 

had sent it. He told the USG that the police had charged him with two charges and 

that he had to appear in the Magistrates Court on 6 September 2013. He told her that 

DSS UNON’s Inspector Mkunde had paid a visit to the OCS Gigiri police to discuss 

the complaint of harassment he had addressed to the DG UNON and the negative 

impact of the complaints already addressed to the DG and the ASG. He alleged that 

Inspector Mkunde had made demands for the Applicant to be charged as planned. 

68. On 30 August 2013, Constable Githendu went to the Kiambu Magistrate’s 

court to register the charges against the Applicant. When the case was called the 

Applicant did not appear. The Constable sought and obtained a warrant for his arrest.  

69. On 30 August, the Administrative Law Section (ALS) advised the Applicant 

that the DG had received his correspondence and was considering the matter.  

70. On the same day the Applicant wrote a complaint of detailed and specific 

allegations to the Kenya Police Oversight Authority and others in relation to the 

behaviour of a police officer involved in the matters leading to the charges against 
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him. In that letter he said that he had to appear in the Magistrate Court in Kiambu on 

6 September 2013. 

71. On 4 September, the DG was told that the Applicant had failed to appear in 

the Magistrates Court on 30 August and an arrest warrant had been issued. She 

immediately wrote to the Assistant Secretary-General for Legal Affairs (ASG OLA) 

about the implications for the immunities of the Organisation1. If the Applicant was 

subject to the same privileges and immunities under the Convention as international 

staff she referred the matter to his office for consideration as to whether the 

Secretary-General might waive the immunity of the Applicant so that UNON was not 

in danger of breaching its obligations under the General Convention on the Privileges 

and Immunities of the United Nations2 (the General Convention) and the Host 

Country Agreement. She asked what action she should take. 

72. The DG also wrote to the Applicant on the same day to tell him that she had 

referred his complaint to OIOS who had decided to refer it directly to DSS New 

York. DSS was making its own enquiries. She repeated her advice that complaints of 

retaliation should be directed to the Ethics Office.  

73. On 6 September 2013, the Applicant’s lawyers went to the Kiambu 

Magistrate’s court to represent him but found that the file had been presented to the 

court on 30 August and upon his non-appearance a warrant for his arrest was issued. 

74. On 7 September, the Applicant advised the DG that the day before he had 

been subject to an assassination attempt outside the UNON complex by two men in 

police uniform armed with AK 47 rifles. He also said he would be making a 

complaint to the Ethics Office. The DG consulted with the Chief of Security who 

advised her that he would make enquiries to establish what had occurred.  

                                                
1 The Respondent waived its legal professional privilege in respect of this correspondence (including 
the response from the ASG). 
2 Adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on 13 February 1946. 
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75. The Tribunal heard evidence about this incident from the Applicant, another 

Security Officer who was in the van and Constable Githendu. 

76. It is not for the Tribunal to make conclusive findings on the conflicts of 

evidence given about this incident as it is the subject of another investigation but it 

appears that it arose while the Constable was trying to execute the warrant issued on 

30 August by arresting the Applicant. 

77. On 9 September 2013, the Applicant made a formal request to the Ethics 

Office for protection against retaliation. The DG talked to the Chief of Security about 

these allegations. She placed it in his hands to refer the matter to the Chief, Security 

Information Operations Center (SIOC), for an investigation into the allegation of 

threats. As at the date of the hearing, she had not received a report on this matter and 

the Applicant has not been interviewed about it. There was no evidence as to whether 

the Ethics Office had commenced an investigation. 

78. The DG advised the Applicant on 9 September that she had also decided to 

initiate a fact finding panel under ST/SGB/2008/5 as originally requested by him in 

his letter of 18 February. In that letter the DG also stated: 

I understand that a warrant has been issued for your arrest following 
your failure to appear at Kiambu Magistrate’s court, to which you had 
been summoned to appear on 30 August 2013. 

79. She reminded him of his duty as a United Nations staff member to comply 

with local laws and orders of competent courts. She stated that in accordance with art. 

21 of the General Convention, the United Nations has the obligation to cooperate at 

all times with the appropriate authorities to facilitate the administration of justice and 

prevent the occurrence of any abuse in connection with the privileges and immunities 

of the Organization. 

80. The ASG OLA replied to the DG on 11 September that: 

We agree with the DG’s assessment that the purported actions of (the 
Applicant) which underlie the arrest warrant do not relate to his 



  Case No.: UNDT/NBI/2014/010 

  Judgment No. UNDT/2014/092 
 

Page 19 of 39 

official functions. Therefore the immunity provided for in Section 
18(a) does not apply in this case. 

81. Letters were sent to the three persons named in the Applicant’s 18 February 

complaint advising them that a panel had been set up and requiring them to cooperate 

fully with the investigation. 

82. On 19 November 2013, the Applicant was called before the investigation 

panel for an interview. As at the date of the hearing, the panel has not reported and no 

disciplinary proceedings have been instituted against him. 

83. The DG told the Tribunal she had known of the involvement of the Kenya 

Police for some time because earlier she had seen the allegations and police efforts 

not being fruitful in that regard.  She wanted to avoid an arrest. She also said that she 

was disappointed at the way OIOS had handled the matter by not conducting an 

investigation itself but sending it to DSS. 

Submissions of Respondent 

84. The Respondent submitted that between 20 February and 3 May the DG 

promptly reviewed the Applicant’s complaint as required by section 5.14 of 

ST/GB/2008/5. In the context of the DG’s heavy schedule and in the absence of her 

Legal Advisor, her reaction was prompt. 

85. The result of the review was her decision that there was no case for a fact-

finding investigation by a civilian panel but that the matter should be referred to 

OIOS. Although that action was not done under the ST/SGB, she did take steps as 

required. 

86. This was not a clear case for an investigation panel as the complaint revealed 

elements of possible misconduct by the Applicant. 

87. The Applicant did not allege that his rights had been infringed when the DG 

referred his complaint to OIOS. Even if there were a breach of the procedure under 

the ST/SGB there were no adverse consequences for the Applicant. 
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88. Once referred to OIOS, the matter was taken out of the DG’s hands. The delay 

that followed was by OIOS and the DSS investigations. The DG followed up in 

August to ascertain progress by OIOS and found that DSS was investigating. Any 

delays were not her fault. 

89. Throughout she liaised with the Chief of Security and acted on all memos 

received. 

90. On 4 September, the DG set up an investigation panel. The delay advantaged 

the Applicant as all his complaints since then could be dealt with. 

91. In relation to the responsibilities of the United Nations in case of arrest or 

detention of a staff member the Respondent accepted the statements of law in paras. 

74 to 81 of Kamunyi UNDT/NBI/2012/214 and also referred to Article V, section 18 

of the General Convention and the Host Country Agreement section 9(a) which 

confers extraterritoriality on the United Nations and 9(b) which prevents United 

Nations premises from being used as a refuge by persons avoiding arrest under 

Kenyan law. 

92. The Respondent does not accept that the expert evidence given by the then 

Senior Legal Advisor of UNON and described in para. 83 of the Kamunyi judgment 

reflected the correct procedures concerning the waiver of immunity. He relies on the 

advice of the current ASG OLA as conveyed to the DG. 

93. The Respondent submitted that the findings in Kamunyi para. 83 can be 

distinguished because the host country did not request a waiver of immunity. He 

relied on the advice from the ASG OLA that as the Applicant’s arrest warrant did not 

relate to his official functions the immunity provided for in section 18 of the General 

Convention did not apply in this case. 

94. The Respondent denies that the Applicant was arrested or detained as 

envisaged by ST/AI/299 (Arrest and detention).  
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95. It is the case for the Respondent that the charging of the Applicant may have 

been triggered by the visit of Inspector Mkunde to the Police station but denies there 

was any pressure applied by the United Nations as he was only requesting a written 

request. The Respondent submitted that there is no evidence of a conspiracy between 

the DG and the Police to have the Applicant drop his prohibited conduct allegations 

or of malice towards the Applicant by the DG. 

96. The Applicant failed in his obligations to report to the Magistrate’s Court and 

is using these proceedings to mask the misconduct allegations against him. 

97. The procedures followed in this case were fully in accordance with the law of 

the Organization. The DG acted on correct legal advice. 

The Applicant’s submissions 

98. The Applicant submitted that on receiving his complaint of Prohibited 

Conduct the only option for the DG was to set up an investigation panel. The reason 

for setting it up on 4 September 2013 existed in February 2013. The seven-month 

delay does not amount to prompt and concrete action as required by ST/SGB/2008/5. 

99. The fact-finding panel can only investigate the complaint as laid on 18 

February. There is no advantage to the Applicant in the delay. The delay opened up 

the possibility of other investigations and police involvement all of which could have 

been avoided if the investigation had taken place promptly. 

100. The DG’s referral to OIOS was not in accordance with ST/SGB/2008/5. The 

investigations by SIU and DSS do not add up to concrete action. 

101. The Administration conducted an investigation into his misconduct without 

his knowledge or involvement in breach of ST/AI/371 (Revised disciplinary 

measures), staff rule 10.3 and ST/SGB/2009/7 (Staff Rules). 

102. The Applicant submitted that the relationship between the United Nations and 

the host country is covered by the General Convention. UNON staff violated this 
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Convention by inviting the Kenya Police into the compound to interrogate a staff 

member. The Applicant further submitted that based on his previous experience as a 

police officer in the Kenya Diplomatic Police Unit, all United Nations matters are 

dealt with by the OCS Diplomatic Police and the Kenyan Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 

The proper procedure is that the requesting police station should have written to the 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The UNON desk at the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 

would then have advised further.  

103. The United Nations was in conspiracy with the Kenya Police. DSS officers 

went to the police station in relation to the prohibited conduct complaint and 

immediately after that he was charged. 

104. The Applicant requests the Tribunal to make sure that the United Nations 

upholds its own rules and procedures. 

Considerations 

Issue 1. Delay of Investigation into Applicant’s Complaint of Prohibited 

Conduct 

105. ST/SGB/2008/5 provides processes for staff members to make complaints of 

prohibited conduct and for the administration to deal with those complaints. 

106. Section 5.3 imposes a duty on managers and supervisors to take prompt and 

concrete action in response to reports and allegations of prohibited conduct. Failure to 

do so may be considered a breach of duty. 

107. The action required of the managers who receive such reports is set out in 

section 5.14: 

Upon receipt of a formal complaint or report, the responsible official 
will promptly review the complaint or report to assess whether it 
appears to have been made in good faith and whether there are 
sufficient grounds to warrant a formal fact-finding investigation. If 
that is the case, the responsible office shall promptly appoint a panel 
of at least two individuals from the department, office or mission 
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concerned who have been trained in investigating allegations of 
prohibited conduct or, if necessary, from the Office of Human 
Resources Management roster. 

108. The procedures of the fact-finding panel are contained in sections 5.15 to 

5.16. Section 5.17 requires the investigation panel to submit its report to the 

responsible official normally no later than three months from the date of submission 

of the formal complaint. 

109. Pursuant to Section 5.18 there are three possible outcomes of the panel’s 

report: if no prohibited conduct is found, the case is closed; if there is a factual basis 

for the allegations but not sufficient for disciplinary proceedings, managerial action is 

required; if the allegations are well founded and identified misconduct the matter is to 

be referred to the ASG for Human Resources. 

110. Section 5.19 provides that if the allegations of prohibited conduct are found to 

be unfounded and based on malicious intent, disciplinary action may be taken against 

the person who made the complaint. 

111. These sections make it clear that at the time he or she receives the complaint 

the role of the manager is limited to reviewing the complaint to decide whether it was 

made in good faith and whether there are sufficient grounds to warrant a formal fact 

finding investigation. If a fact-finding panel is appointed, it has the role of 

establishing if there was prohibited conduct or not. 

112. In the scheme of section 5 when deciding to appoint a panel, the responsible 

official reviews the complaint itself. The investigation panel then reviews the facts in 

relation to the complaint. 

113. The requirement that any investigation should normally be concluded in three 

months from the laying of the complaint is an indicator of the duties of the 

responsible official. That person must review the complaint without delay. If he or 

she is satisfied that it is made in good faith and is necessary a fact-finding panel 
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should be established promptly. Any delay at this point reduces the time for the panel 

to investigate and report its findings of fact. 

114. In this case, the DG eventually concluded that the fact-finding panel should be 

appointed and on that basis she must have been satisfied that the complaint was made 

in good faith and warranted a fact-finding panel.  

115. However as she did not request an investigation of the Applicant’s complaint 

of prohibited conduct until seven months after its receipt, it was impossible for the 

investigation to be completed within the normal three-month time frame required by 

ST/SGB/2008/5.  

116. The Tribunal accepts that the DG faced practical difficulties first in finding 

time and advice to adequately review the complaint and second in finding suitable 

persons to conduct the fact-finding investigation. In addition the complaints of the 

Applicant’s debtors created confusion about the way they should be handled and this 

contributed to the time it took for a decision to be made but none of these reasons 

justify the seven-month delay in appointing a fact-finding panel.   

117. While the prohibited conduct complaint and the alleged misconduct of the 

Applicant were closely linked, they were two separate and discrete matters.  

118. The prohibited conduct complaint made detailed allegations against named 

DSS UNON staff members. It alleged that they harassed and bullied the Applicant. 

That is a matter properly dealt with under ST/SGB/2008/5 and, where appropriate, an 

investigation by an investigation panel to establish the facts. 

119. The misconduct allegations related to the behaviour of the Applicant in his 

dealings with complainants from outside the United Nations.  

120. Where there is reason to believe that a staff member has engaged in 

unsatisfactory conduct for which a disciplinary measure may be imposed, ST/AI/371 

provides a process including the investigation by the responsible officer. Contrary to 
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the Applicant’s submission, there is no lawful requirement for the person being 

investigated to be informed under ST/AI/3713.  

121. The Respondent correctly conceded that ST/SGB/2008/5 does not provide for 

a responsible official to refer a staff complaint to OIOS. A preliminary investigation 

under ST/AI/371 is not normally referred to OIOS.  

122. The Tribunal holds that the DG erroneously referred both the Applicant’s 

complaint and the misconduct allegations to OIOS. This caused further delays. To 

date neither matter has been resolved.  

123. It is of considerable concern that without the knowledge of the DG, DSS 

UNON initially took it upon itself to unilaterally investigate the complaint of 

harassment and bullying alleged against its own officers.   OIOS later referred the 

harassment complaint back to DSS UNON. This breaches the requirement that a 

complaint of protected activity should be investigated fairly and impartially. 

124. The DG frankly told the Tribunal that she was disappointed at the way the 

matter had turned out.  

Conclusions on Delay 

125. The normal time frame of three months from receipt of a complaint to the 

report of the investigating panel set by ST/SGB/2008/5 provides a benchmark against 

which to judge whether the responsible official acted promptly as required by both 

section 5.3 and 5.14. In this case it took seven months for the DG to appoint the 

investigating panel. As at the date of this judgment over one year after the complaint 

was laid the panel has not reported its findings. There is no doubt that the test of 

promptness has not been met.  

                                                
3 Applicant 2012-UNAT-209 at para.  43. 



  Case No.: UNDT/NBI/2014/010 

  Judgment No. UNDT/2014/092 
 

Page 26 of 39 

126. Further, had an impartial investigation panel reported on the complaint within 

the time allotted by the ST/SGB, the events which followed may not have arisen. The 

Tribunal does not accept the Respondent’s argument that the Applicant has an 

advantage from the delay in that all his issues can be dealt with at once, including 

those which arose after his first complaint was made. The investigation panel may 

consider only the complaint as alleged on 18 February 2013. The issues that arose 

during the delay cannot be resolved by that investigation. 

127. The delay has not served any of the parties to this matter well. The staff 

members who are the subject of the Applicant’s complaint have been kept waiting for 

the outcome of serious allegations made against them. The Applicant’s reasonable 

expectation of a prompt decision on the facts he alleged has not been met.  

128. In Birya Order No. 062 (NBI/2014) on receivability, this Tribunal held: 

30. The provisions of ST/SGB/2008/5 exceptionally create important 
interim rights for staff members of the United Nations Secretariat who 
complain of prohibited conduct. The ST/SGB expressly places a duty 
on managers to act promptly and to preserve the integrity of the 
process to protect staff members from intimidation or retaliation. In 
addition section 5.20 of ST/SGB/2008/5 provides that an aggrieved 
individual who has grounds to believe that the procedure followed in 
respect of allegations of prohibited conduct was improper may appeal 
pursuant to chapter XI of the Staff Rules. This section allows an 
aggrieved individual to challenge the procedures followed before the 
finalization of the fact-finding investigation. 
31. Because of the absolute prohibition of prohibited conduct in the 
workplace, a failure to act promptly and to maintain the integrity of 
the formal processes is not just a procedural omission but a breach of 
duty which may impact on the right of a staff member to be free of 
intimidation and retaliation. In this case, the Applicant made a report 
of retaliation which allegedly occurred between the time he made his 
initial complaint and when he was notified that the panel had been 
convened. 
32. The Tribunal holds that the alleged delay in the setting up of an 
investigation panel is an administrative decision alleged to be in non-
compliance with the Applicant’s terms of appointment which had the 
potential to affect the Applicant’s substantive rights to protection from 
intimidation and retaliation 
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129. On the facts in this case, the Tribunal holds that the DG failed in her legal 

obligation to review and promptly appoint an investigation panel. The Tribunal 

appreciates that the practical system for setting up an independent fact-finding panel 

does not fully support the legal requirements of ST/SGB/2008/5. At least in UNON, 

there is a shortage of suitable and available staff members to undertake what can be 

an onerous imposition on their professional time. However, in this case there is no 

evidence of any positive steps taken by the DG to try and resolve those problems 

within an acceptable time frame. The referral to OIOS was not an appropriate 

solution. 

Issue 2. Regularity of United Nations’ dealing with Kenya Police 

Factual Findings 

130. The Tribunal finds as a matter of fact that although the Kenya Police had 

evidence to charge the Applicant from early 2013, they took no independent steps to 

arrest or to charge the Applicant. Instead, Constable Githendu tried actively to resolve 

the issues between the complainants and the Applicant without resorting to criminal 

charges. Until August 2013, the Constable was still trying to contact the Applicant 

but was not pursuing the investigation with any vigor. 

131. The requests for information by DSS New York in July and August prompted 

DSS UNON to approach the Kenya Police. Within a few hours of the visit by DSS, 

the Applicant had been charged and detained as a prisoner, albeit briefly, without any 

consideration of whether there should be a waiver of his immunity and if so on what 

conditions.  

132. The circumstances surrounding the date of the Applicant’s appearance in the 

Magistrate’s Court are disturbingly uncertain given the three conflicting bail bonds 

produced to the Tribunal. 

133. The bail bond that the Applicant said set his appearance date as 6 September 

is not sufficient evidence of the correct date. However, in her evidence to the 
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Tribunal, the OCPD’s secretary corroborated the Applicant’s explanation of how the 

date was changed; the Applicant made contemporaneous references to the appearance 

date being 6 September in his letters to the DG and the DPP; and he instructed his 

lawyers to appear at the court on 6 September. All of this makes it highly probable 

that he had been led to believe that he was to appear on that day. The police relied on 

a bond that set the appearance date as 30 August. The Tribunal finds this bond was 

suspect. It was said to have been issued on 26 August, but was dated 21 August.  

134. Given the serious implications of a non-appearance by an accused person, the 

way these bonds were issued was, at best, highly negligent. At worst they are prima 

facie evidence of a plot to have a warrant issued for the arrest of the Applicant by 

ensuring he did not appear on the day set by the police.  

135. The Tribunal finds that DSS UNON knew that the Applicant was in jeopardy 

of being charged and arrested by the Kenya Police when the DSS officers visited the 

Gigiri Police Station on 21 August.  

136. Inspector Mkunde requested and received a document from the Police 

requiring the United Nations to instruct the Applicant to appear before the Gigiri 

police “for further action”. It would be naïve to infer from that wording that the DSS 

officers thought that the police only wanted to have a quiet chat with the Applicant. 

In the unlikely event that this was so, within a matter of hours on the same day 

Inspector Mkunde knew that the Applicant had been charged and detained and had 

only been released once a bond was issued. 

137. The Tribunal finds as a fact that the Applicant was detained when he arrived 

at the police station on 21 August 2013. He was charged and finger printed. He was 

later released on a bond. There is no doubt that he was in the custody of the police. 

The warrant of arrest subsequently issued was based on an alleged breach of that 

bond. 

138. The letter requested by Inspector Mkunde from the police was not a request to 

the Head of the United Nations at UNON for a waiver. The DG was most likely 
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advised by DSS of the impending or actual detention of the Applicant on 21 August. 

The Foreign Ministry of Kenya was not contacted for information to be transmitted to 

Headquarters and Headquarters was not informed of the detention. 

139. No waiver was sought when it was known that a warrant for the Applicant’s 

arrest had been issued. 

140. The evidence overwhelmingly points to the detention of the Applicant on 21 

August being instigated by the DSS officers rather than on the initiative of the Kenya 

Police. The motive for this cannot be definitively proven by the Applicant but shortly 

after his release he reported to the DG that he had been told by Constable Githendu 

that DSS was trying to take steps to discourage him from pursuing his complaints of 

harassment and bullying by DSS officers.  Although this is a serious, if not bizarre, 

allegation, given the extraordinary factual matrix of this case including the cavalier 

actions of the DSS officers preceding the detention, such an explanation appears to be 

more likely than not. 

 

The Law 

 

Obligations of the UN where a staff member is facing arrest or detention by the 

host country police 

141. The relationship between the United Nations and the Host country 

Government, Kenya, is governed by the United Nations Charter; sections 20 and 21of 

the General Convention; staff regulation 1.1(f); staff rules 101.2(c); ST/SGB/198 

(Security of International Civil Service); and ST/AI/2994.  

142. In Kamunyi this Tribunal held that prior to arrest or detention of a United 

Nations staff member by a host country, a properly addressed request for waiver from 

the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the host country should be received and processed 

                                                
4 For a full discussion of these provisions refer to Kamunyi UNDT 2012/214. 
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by the United Nations and a determination made by the Secretary-General or the 

Under-Secretary-General for Legal Affairs whether a waiver should be granted5. The 

Secretary-General did not appeal that part of the decision. However the circumstances 

were different from the present in that United Nations officers were found to have 

approached the Kenya police to ask them to request a waiver. The need for a waiver 

was not in issue in that case. 

143. The question in this case is whether the host country should have sought a 

waiver before the Applicant was detained and charged. 

144. In 2008, by resolution 62/247, the General Assembly requested the Secretary-

General to submit a report on the practices relating to the sharing of information 

between the Organization and law enforcement authorities of Member States and 

referrals of possible criminal cases related to United Nations staff, United Nations 

officials and experts on mission. The Secretary-General responded in A/63/331 

(Information-sharing practices between the United Nations and national law 

enforcement authorities, as well as referrals of possible criminal cases related to 

United Nations staff, United Nations officials and experts on mission). 

145. Although the response in A/63/331 refers throughout to United Nations 

officials and experts on mission the heading indicates that these practices also apply, 

where appropriate, to staff members.  

146. Part IV concerns practices in relation to information sharing with and referrals 

to national law enforcement officials. Section 11 states: 

The two principal situations in which information is passed between 
the Organization and law enforcement authorities are: (a) when the 
Organization, through its own investigative processes, has uncovered 
prima facie evidence of potential criminal conduct within the 
jurisdiction of one of its Member States and decides to refer that 
evidence to the Member State for its appropriate action; and (b) when 
the Organization has been approached by a Member State for access to 
information or material and/or witnesses in the context of an external 

                                                
5 Ibid, at paras. 83 and 84. 
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investigation by law enforcement authorities and/or criminal 
proceedings being conducted by the Member State.  
 

147. Section 11 of the Secretary-General’s report advised the General Assembly 

that where, after proper internal investigation using its own investigation processes, 

the Organisation establishes a credible allegation that a crime may have been 

committed, given the legal issues including those related to the privileges and 

immunities of the United Nations under the General Convention these are ordinarily 

brought to the attention of the Member State. All such cases are reviewed by the 

Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) before a final determination is made on any referral. 

This includes consulting with the relevant programme manager as appropriate to 

determine the wider interests of the Organization. Such a referral is made in a written 

report to the permanent mission of the member state for its appropriate action. It is 

voluntary and without prejudice to the privileges and immunities of the United 

Nations. The referral must not prejudice the interests of the Organization. 

148. Where the law enforcement authorities of a member state are investigating 

allegations of criminal conduct they may request, in writing, access to information or 

material held by the United Nations. 

149. Part V of the Secretary-General’s advice is headed “Requests by Law 

enforcement authorities for waivers of immunity for the purposes of formal testimony 

and/or formal proceedings involving a United Nations Official or expert on mission”. 

It  quotes from section 20 of the General Convention which states that: 

Privileges and immunities are granted to officials in the interests of the 
United Nations and not for the personal benefit of the individuals 
themselves. The Secretary-General shall have the right and the duty to 
waive the immunity of any official in any case where, in his opinion, 
the immunity would impede the course of justice and can be waived 
without prejudice to the interests of the United Nations. 

150. Section 19 of the advice provides that if the law enforcement authority of a 

member state wishes to file criminal proceedings against a United Nations official or 

expert such authorities must make a written request to the Organization, generally 
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through their permanent missions to the United Nations, for the waiver of immunities 

of the individual concerned.  

151. Section 22 of the advice quotes sections 20 and 23 of the General Convention 

and the Advisory Opinion of the International Court of Justice (ICJ)6 that it is for the 

Secretary-General to determine if agents of the United Nations have acted within the 

scope of their functions.  

152. Section 24 states: 

Accordingly, if the Secretary-General determines that the official or 
expert on mission concerned acted outside the scope of his/her 
functions, unless the official in question enjoyed privileges and 
immunities accorded to diplomatic envoys in accordance with article 
19 of the General Convention or pursuant to the relevant headquarters 
agreement, status-of-forces agreement or status-of-mission agreement, 
the official or expert on mission would not enjoy any immunity and a 
waiver would not be necessary. In such cases, the law enforcement 
authorities would be advised in writing, generally through the relevant 
permanent mission to the United Nations, that no waiver of immunity 
was required. 

153. Section 24 may be interpreted two ways. The first interpretation, advocated 

for by the Respondent, is that where the official has obviously acted outside the scope 

of his or her duties there is no immunity and no requirement for the host country law 

enforcement authorities to request a waiver. In this interpretation, the Secretary-

General has no role in the decision about whether the alleged acts are functional or 

non-functional. 

154. The second interpretation of section 24 is based on its context in Part V of the 

advice. The heading of the part makes it clear that Part V concerns requests for 

waivers by law enforcement agencies.  The first section in Part V is section 19 which 

states that the law enforcement authorities must make a written request for the waiver 

of immunities. The following sections establish that it is for the Secretary-General to 

                                                
6 Difference Relating to Immunity from Legal Process of a Special Rapporteur of the Commission on 
Human Right, (1999) ICJ Rep., p. 62. 
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determine if the official acted outside his or her function. Section 24 begins with the 

word “accordingly” which links the content of that section to those preceding it.  

155. On this interpretation, having received a request for a waiver of immunity it is 

for the Secretary-General to make a decision whether the alleged acts were 

functional. If so, he is required to make a second decision as to whether in the 

circumstances a waiver ought to be granted. If the Secretary-General decides that the 

acts are not functional then there is no requirement for the Secretary-General to make 

a decision whether to waive the immunity as no immunity attaches to such acts.  

156. The Tribunal holds that the second interpretation is consistent with the 

reading of the whole of Part V. A request for a waiver of immunity is the sole 

mechanism by which the host country law enforcement authorities may properly 

bring the alleged criminality of a United Nations staff member to the attention of the 

Secretary-General. At that stage the Secretary-General must address the question of 

functionality. The fact that the Secretary-General is to advise the law enforcement 

authorities in writing that no waiver is required assumes that a request has been made. 

This is in accord with the Secretary-General’s exclusive right and duty to waive 

immunity conferred by section 20 of the General Convention.  

 

157. The Tribunal finds that the classification of alleged criminal behaviour by a 

United Nations staff member as functional or non-functional may only be decided by 

the Secretary-General in the context of a request for waiver of immunities from the 

law enforcement authorities. In the case of the Kenyan Host Country Agreement, this 

is through the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 

b. When a staff member is arrested or detained 

158. The obligations of the United Nations are set out in ST/AI/299, which 

establishes formal reporting procedures by which the United Nations is enabled to 

safeguard staff members who have been arrested or detained.  
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159. An important element of the reporting procedure is the section 2 requirement 

that “it is essential that United Nations Headquarters be informed of such incidents 

immediately after they take place”. The designated official for security matters at the 

duty station concerned7 who is instructed to immediately report the incident by the 

fastest means of communication available to the ASG for General Services who is 

also the United Nations Security Coordinator for the Secretary-General. The 

designated official must also immediately contact the Foreign Ministry of the 

Government concerned to request all relevant information concerning arrest or 

detention. The report to the United Nations Headquarters must give all information 

readily available about the person arrested or detained, the circumstances and grounds 

of the arrest or detention as well as information about access to the person by a 

representative of the United Nations, consular and or legal counsel.  

 

160. When a United Nations staff member is arrested or detained by the host 

country the emphasis is on gathering and transmitting information from the host 

country about the allegations to Headquarters. The process is designed to be 

protective of the rights of the staff members and the integrity of the United Nations. 

Oversight of the process is placed in the hands of Headquarters who pursuant to 

ST/AI/299 must have the entire dossier before making the determination.  

 
Were these Obligations met? 

 
161. If on 21 August DSS UNON officers were intending to refer the Applicant to 

the Kenya Police for an investigation into alleged criminal activities they were 

obliged to have completed a properly conducted and completed internal investigation. 

They were required to send the allegations of alleged criminal activities to OLA to 

review before a final determination was made about whether it should be referred to 

the police. 

                                                
7 Annex III of ST/AI 299 designates the ED, UNEP to undertake special responsibilities for the 
security and protection of the organizations’ personnel and property. Pursuant to ST/SGB/2009/3 
(Organization of the United Nations Office at Nairobi) since 1 March 2009, this role has been 
undertaken by the Director-General of UNON. 
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162. The referral to the Kenya Police should have been by way of a written report 

to the permanent representative of the Kenya Mission to the United Nations. 

 

163. None of these steps were taken. The internal investigation was not complete 

as at 19 August. It had been referred back to DSS to report again on a further 

investigation. DSS UNON did not advise the Director-General, as the designated 

official for security matters, or OLA of their intention to refer the allegations to the 

Police. DSS UNON did not approach the Kenya Police in writing through the 

permanent representative. 

 

164. If, on the other hand, the actions of the DSS UNON officers on 21 August 

were in response to a request by the host country for information about possible 

criminal behaviour by the Applicant, such a response could only be made upon the 

receipt of  a written request by the host country for waiver of immunity. A waiver 

was not requested. 

 

165. In fact the Tribunal finds that on 21 August the DSS officers neither referred 

the behaviour of the Applicant to the Kenya Police for investigation nor were they 

responding to a request from the Kenya Police. Instead they unlawfully but 

successfully persuaded the Kenya Police to detain and charge the Applicant. 

 

166. Once the Applicant had been detained by the police, ST/AI/299 required the 

designated official for security matters urgently to gather information from the 

Foreign Ministry of the Kenyan Government to transmit to Headquarters.  Although 

the DG was shown the letter from the Police she did not request any information from 

the Foreign Ministry. 

 

167. The Applicant advised both the DG and ASG/OHRM in New York of his 

detention shortly after it occurred. Neither took appropriate steps at that stage as 

required by ST/AI/299. 
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168. The Tribunal holds that the following actions were unlawful: 

 

a. The UNON DSS officers approached the Kenya Police on the basis of 

an uncompleted internal investigation into the Applicant’s behaviour and 

persuaded them to charge the Applicant with criminal offences. This went 

well beyond the written instructions to DSS UNON from DSS New York, 

which were to find out if the police were actively pursuing the Applicant. It 

was in breach of the Secretary-General’s obligations under the Charter and 

the Secretary-General’s procedures set out in A/63/331 including the 

requirements for a waiver of the Applicant’s functional immunity. 

 

b. There was no written request to the permanent mission of the host 

state for information about the allegations and the United Nations 

Headquarters was not advised of the circumstances until the warrant of arrest 

was issued some days later. 

 

c. When the DG and the ASG/OHRM were informed by the Applicant 

after his detention about his concerns about the way DSS UNON was acting 

in relation to him and later when she was advised about the detention of the 

Applicant neither sought the relevant information about the detention from the 

Foreign Ministry to convey that to the United Nations Headquarters. 

 

Conclusions  

169. The Director-General failed in her legal obligation to review and promptly 

appoint an investigation panel into the Applicant’s complaint of bullying and 

harassment dated 18 February 2013. The delay was unlawful and resulted in serious 

consequences for the Applicant. 
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170. The instigation by DSS UNON of the detention and charging of the Applicant 

by the Kenya Police without a waiver of immunity by the Secretary-General was 

unlawful. 

171. DSS UNON acted covertly without the knowledge of the Director-General or 

the United Nations Headquarters in its dealings with the Kenya Police on 21 August. 

This prevented the United Nations from meeting its lawful obligations to the 

Applicant and to the Organization before the Kenya Police detained the Applicant. 

172. The Director-General and ASG/OHRM acted in breach of ST/AI/299 by 

failing to obtain all relevant facts about the detention of the Applicant from the 

Kenyan Foreign ministry. 

Compensation 

173. In his Application the Applicant requested compensation for ‘emotional 

anxiety and moral distress”. At the hearing he advised the Tribunal that his principal 

concern was that the United Nations as an organization upholds its own rules and 

procedures.  

174. There are a number of outstanding matters concerning the Applicant to be 

decided by a number of different bodies. Within the United Nations system the 

independent fact-finding panel is yet to report; the initial phase of the investigation 

into alleged misconduct by the Applicant may or may not result in charges of 

misconduct against the Applicant; there is an outstanding request to the Ethics Office 

for protection against retaliation. Outside the United Nations, the Applicant has made 

at least two formal complaints to the Kenyan authorities that have not yet been 

resolved.  

175. The compensation that may properly be awarded in this case is limited to the 

effects on the Applicant of the delay in setting up the fact-finding panel and the 

unlawful procedures adopted by the DSS UNON officers in instigating the detention 

and charging of the Applicant on 21 August. 
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176. The Tribunal finds that the Applicant is entitled to compensation for the 

anxiety and stress called by the delay to deal with his February 2013 complaint to the 

Director-General. He had asked for protection from harassment and bullying. He had 

no answer to that request a year later. The Tribunal also accepts the Applicant’s 

contention that if a fact-finding panel independent of DSS had been set up to 

investigate his original complaint within an acceptable time frame, there is a strong 

probability that the events which followed would not have occurred including the 

detention of the Applicant by the Kenya Police at the instigation of  DSS UNON. 

These events added to the stress suffered by the Applicant.  

177. The Tribunal finds that the delay in setting up the fact-finding panel caused 

the Applicant stress and anxiety. The Applicant is awarded the sum of USD3000 as 

compensation. 

178. The Applicant is also entitled to compensation for the procedural failure by 

UNON to comply with the procedures related to the arrest and detention of staff 

members. As a former Police Officer, the Applicant was familiar with the correct 

processes and was aware that he was not being treated accordingly. He was caused 

stress and anxiety by this failure and the resulting detention. The Applicant is 

awarded the sum of USD3000. 

Accountability 

179. In Kamunyi UNDT/2010/2148, the Tribunal found that “the procedures in the 

relevant United Nations rules and administrative issuances with respect to the 

handling of the alleged arrest and confinement of the Applicant by the Kenya Police 

were not followed”.  

180. The breaches in that case were made by DSS UNON taking unlawful steps 

which led to the arrest of a DSS officer by the Kenya Police. In Kamunyi this 

Tribunal said it was clear that “the actions of several United Nations officials were 

unlawful, careless or negligent. It is for the Secretary-General to take any disciplinary 
                                                
8 The relevant parts of this judgment were undisturbed on appeal, see Kamunyi 2012-UNAT-194. 
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or other steps in the light of the findings in this judgment and in the interests of the 

maintenance of the Rule of Law in the United Nations”. 

181. The Tribunal has not been advised of any steps that were taken by the 

Secretary-General following that judgment. It is concerned that in the present case 

DSS UNON has again acted with impunity and disregarded the United Nation’s 

obligations under the General Convention as well as with the relevant resolutions of 

the General Assembly and the Secretary-General’s position on the implementation of 

these. These acts have adversely affected the Applicant and do no credit to the United 

Nations. 

182. The Tribunal therefore formally refers these breaches to the Secretary-General 

for action to be taken in making DSS UNON accountable and to ensure that there are 

no future breaches of a similar nature. 

 

 

(Signed) 

Judge Coral Shaw 

Dated this 1st day of July 2014 

 

 

Entered in the Register on this 1st day of July 2014 

(Signed) 

Abena Kwakye-Berko, Registrar, Nairobi 

 


